FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/16/2019 2:35 PM

97083-1

No. 76490-0-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurance company,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

vs.

LEDCOR INDUSTRIES (USA) INC., a Washington corporation, ADMIRAL WAY, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, and SQI, INC., a Washington corporation,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

### Martens + Associates | P.S.

Richard L. Martens, WSBA # 4737 Jane J. Matthews, WSBA #41729 Angeli-Ann Kim, WSBA # 49836

Attorneys for Petitioners Ledcor Industries (USA) Inc., Admiral Way, LLC, and SQI, Inc.

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS		
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION		
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
V.	ARG	UMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 8	
	A.	Washington Law Does Not Allow Carriers to Draft Their Policies to Circumvent Established Principles of Insurance Law	
	В.	The Duty of Good Faith Requires All Persons to Abstain from Deception and Practice Honesty and Equity in All Insurance Matters Including Respondents	
	C.	The Court of Appeals Erroneously Conflated the Duty to Defend with the Narrower Duty to Indemnify as to FMIC and North Pacific	
	D.	The "Ongoing Operations" Holding in  Hartford v. Ohio Casualty Should be Confined to its Facts or Overruled as Contrary to Washington Law	
	E.	"Known Loss" and "Continuous and Progressive" Exclusions are Questions of Fact	
VI.	CON	CLUSION20	

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## **WA State Case Law**

Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 998 P.2d 856 (2000)
American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd., 168 Wn.2d 398, 229 P.3d 693 (2010)
Bordeaux, Inc. v. American Safety Ins. Co., 145 Wn.App. 687, 186 P.3d 1188 (2008)
Coventry Associates v. American States Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 269, 961 P.2d 933 (1998)
Berchauser/Phillips v. Seattle School Dist.,         124 Wn.2d 816, 881 P.2d 986 (1994)       986 (1994)
Burnham v. Commercial Cas. Ins. Co., 10 Wn.2d 624, 117 P.2d 644 (1941)
Evans v. Continental Cas. Co., 40 Wn.2d 614, 245 P.2d 470 (1952)
Gruol Const. Co. v. Ins. Co. of N. America, 11 Wn.App. 632, 525 P.2d 427 (1974)
Hartford Ins. Co. v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 145 Wn. App. 765, 189 P.3d 195 (2008)
Indus. Indem. Co. of the NW Inc. v. Kallevig, 114 Wn.2d 907, 792 P.2d 520 (1990)

Key Tronic Corp. Inc. v. Aetna (Cigna) Fire Underwriters Inc. Co., 124 Wn.2d 618, 881 P.2d 201 (1994)10
Murray v. Mossman, 56 Wn.2d 909, 355 P.2d 983 (1960)
Natl'l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp., 176 Wn.2d 872, 297 P.3d 688 (2013)
Oregon Auto Ins. Co. v. Salzberg, 85 Wn.2d 372, 535 P.2d 816 (1975)
Pub. Utility Dist. No. 1 of Klickitat County v. International Ins. Co., 124 Wn.2d 789, 881 P.2d 1020 (1994)
Safeco v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992)
Sherry v. Financial Indem. Co., 160 Wn.2d 611, 160 P.3d 31 (2007)
Shotwell v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 91 Wn.2d 161, 588 P.2d 208 (1978)
Standard Fire Ins. v. Blakeslee, 54 Wn.App. 1, 771 P.2d 1172 (1989)
St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc., 165 Wn.2d 122, 196 P.3d 664 (2008)
Tank v. State Farm, 105 Wn.2d 381, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986)
Transamerica Ins. Group v. Chubb & Sons, Inc., 16 Wn.App. 247, 554 P.2d 1080 (1976)

Villella v. Pub. Emps. Mut. Ins. Co., 106 Wn.2d 806, 725 P.2d 957 (1986)
Woo v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co., 161 Wn.2d 43, 164 P.3d 454 (2007)
Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Inc. Co. RRG, 188 Wn.2d 171, 393 P.3d 748 (2017)
Federal Case Law
In re Chinese Manf. Drywall Prods. Liab. Litigation, 273 F.R.D. 380 (E.D. La. 2011)
Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Harco Nat'l Ins. Co., 990 F.Supp.2d 194 (D.Conn. 2013)
Tri-Star Theme Builders, Inc. v. OneBeacon Ins. Co., 426 Fed. Appx. 506, 2011 WL 1361468 (9th Cir. 2011) (not published)
Underwriters Subscribing to Lloyd's Ins. v. Magi, Inc., 790 F.Supp. 1043 (E.D. Wash. 1991)
Valley Ins. Co. v. Wellington Cheswick, LLC,         No. C05-1886 RSM, 2006 WL 3030282         (W.D. Wash. 2006) (not published)
Statutes/Administrative Code
RCW 5.40.050
RCW 48.01.020

RCW 48.01.03011						
RCW 48.01.060						
RCW 48.01.070						
RCW 48.05.280						
RCW 48.30.040						
WAC 284-30-320						
WAC 284-30-330(6)11						
WAC 284-30-340						
Rules						
RAP 13.4(b)(1)3, 4, 5, 6, 14, 15						
RAP 13.4(b)(2)11						
RAP 13.4(b)(4)						
Other Authority						
3 Allan D. Windt, Insurance Claims and Disputes § 11:30 (5 <sup>th</sup> Ed. 2010)						

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Ledcor Industries (USA) Inc., Admiral Way LLC and SQI Inc., appellants in the Court of Appeals, file this petition for review<sup>1</sup>.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, filed March 18, 2019, in *Zurich American Insurance Company v. Ledcor Industries (USA) Inc., Admiral Way, LLC, and SQI Inc.,* No. 76490-0-I. A copy of the slip opinion is attached as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals denied petitioners' timely motion for clarification and/or reconsideration on March 18, 2019 of the original unpublished decision filed on December 10, 2018, although it withdrew and substituted the current unpublished opinion. *See* Appendix B.

Motions to publish the original decision filed by Zurich and First Mercury<sup>2</sup> were denied. Review is *de novo*.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>If Admiral Way LLC files its own petition for review on its separate claims under the companion appeal in No. 76405-5-I, Ledcor joins in its arguments to the extent applicable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Respondents Zurich American Insurance Company, First Mercury Insurance Company, North Pacific Insurance Company and Virginia Surety Insurance Company are sometimes referenced by "Zurich", "First Mercury or FMIC", "North Pacific" or "NP", and "Virginia" or "VSC"

When insureds are sued in construction defect cases, they seek "security and peace of mind". Shortly before a mediation in the underlying Owners Association's suit against the developer and general contractor of a mixed-use commercial project – when the insureds were most vulnerable – Zurich informed Ledcor, its insured, and Admiral Way LLC, its additional insured, each of whom it was defending under a reservation of rights, that it would seek a recovery of hundreds of thousands of dollars of defense costs incurred when no provision of the policies or Washington law allowed that remedy. Natl'l Sur. v. Immunex Corp., 176 Wn.2d 872, 297 P.3d 688 (2013). The declaratory judgment action filed by Zurich against Ledcor and Admiral Way LLC on 17 March 2009 sought that recovery ("That Zurich American may withdraw from the defense it has provided to Ledcor [Admiral Way, LLC], and recover the fees and expenses Zurich American has incurred in providing that defense"). CP 1-21, ¶¶ 5.2 and 5.4. Zurich quickly followed with a motion for summary judgment on 24 July 2009 seeking the same relief. CP 441-467. Both occurred shortly before the mediation in the Owner's construction defect suit. The Court of Appeals dismissed Zurich's admitted violation as "minor" notwithstanding RCW 48.30.030, Natl'l

Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp., supra, and notwithstanding that it was evidence of negligence. Slip. Op. 17, fn 7. This issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

Insureds expect timely responses from their carriers rather than years of delay when they submit claims. First Mercury defended its named insured SQI, Inc. for close to 3.5 years before issuing a reservation of rights to SQI's appointed counsel on 23 February 2012. The letter was written by its coverage counsel, not the insurance company. CP 7609-23. FMIC controlled SQI's defense for 42 months before disclaiming coverage in violation of the holding in Transamerica Ins. v. Chubb and Sons, Inc., 16 Wn.App. 247, 554 P.2d 1080 (1976) (holding coverage by estoppel for 10 months without a reservation). Like Zurich, FMIC warned SQI that "FMIC reserves its rights to recover any attorneys' fees or costs and indemnity paid out to the extent allowed by Washington law, if it is determined that there is no coverage for the claims associated with this matter." *Id.* Neither FMIC's policy or the law allowed that threat. Immunex, supra, and Sherry v. Financial Indem., 160 Wn.2d 611, 619, 160 P.3d 31 (2007) (An insurer has no "right of offset, setoff, or reimbursement [from its insured] without an authorizing contract

provision.").

Ledcor tendered to FMIC on 24 October 2007. CP 7451-55.

Ledcor sent a supplemental tender on 23 October 2008. CP 5102-04.

Nothing in the record indicates that First Mercury ever responded to either tender under the same policy which it was defending SQI. Claiming that the Owner's damage did not arise out of "on-going" work performed by SQI, an undefined term, FMIC asserted that Ledcor was not an additional insured, despite a blanket endorsement adding Ledcor to the policy, and thus had no rights under the policy<sup>3</sup>. This decision was reached despite "completed operations" coverage under the policy and a large body of law holding that an additional insured has the same coverage as the named insured.

North Pacific never responded to the tender by either its named insured, The Painters, or its additional insured, Ledcor, on 10 March 2009 despite a return receipt showing it had been delivered three days later. CP 6019. As an excuse, it merely claimed it has "lost" the tenders and there was no reason to respond because there was no coverage. CP 6030 at fn.

13. This violates RCW 48,05,280 and WAC 284-30-340. This issue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>SQI performed work on the roof in 2005. Ledcor was sued by Admiral Way LLC on 04 September 2007 during FMIC's second policy. CP 11929-32.

warrants review under RAP 13(b)(1) and (4).

Petitioners sued Zurich and First Mercury for negligence, CPA violations, breach of contract, as well as bad faith. All claims were dismissed by the trial court on summary judgment<sup>4</sup> and affirmed on appeal notwithstanding expert testimony that both carriers fell below the standard of care for insurance carriers and notwithstanding this Court decisions allowing negligence and CPA claims regardless of whether or not there is coverage under the policies. *Coventry Assoc. v. American States*, 136 Wn.2d 269, 279, 961 P.2d 933 (1998). The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to *Coventry* notwithstanding the fact that Ledcor was Zurich's named insured and SQI was FMIC's named insured. This issue warrants review under RAP 13(b)(1) and (4).

Long-standing rules of construction and interpretation of insurance policies in Washington require the insured to demonstrate coverage under the insuring provision and the carrier to prove the applicability of one or more exclusions which are strictly construed in favor of coverage. Here

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Zurich had two policies insuring Ledcor. The "continuous and progressive" exclusion is different in each. The trial court initially found coverage under the first policy and then changed its mind when Zurich claimed a CR2A agreement coupled with the "fairness doctrine" precluded coverage. CP 3596-3634. There was no CR2A agreement and the "fairness doctrine" has not been adopted in Washington.

both FMIC and Zurich added exclusionary language to their coverage provisions requiring the insured to prove a negative and shifting the standard burden of proof. Zurich referenced that language in its declaratory judgment action. FMIC based its summary judgment on the same language. This is a matter of public importance and warrants review under RAP 13(b)(1) and (4).

When an insurance carrier undertakes the defense of its insured under a reservation of rights, it should not commingle the defense file with the coverage file and assign a single adjuster to supervise both. Both Zurich and FMIC did that in violation of Washington law. *See Safeco v. Butler*, 118 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992). This issue warrants review under RAP 13(b)(1) and (4).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Owners of The Admiral, a four story mixed use commercial project in West Seattle originally submitted a claim for construction defects to the developer, Admiral Way LLC, on 11 July 2007<sup>5</sup>. CP 10246-61. Thereafter, the Owners filed suit on 12 July 2007 listing six causes of action against Admiral Way LLC. CP 552-59. The complaint did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>An amended notice of construction defects was filed on 03 June 2008. CP 408-422.

allege *when* property damage started or *when* the defective work that caused the damage was performed. In answering the complaint, the developer filed a third party complaint against Ledcor on 04 September 2007. CP 561-576. Ledcor's assigned defense counsel filed a separate action on 29 August 2008 against the subcontractors that actually performed the work, including SQI, Inc. [the roofer] and The Painters [installed a flexible waterproof coating under a roof top deck, balconies and courtyards]. CP 2803-14.

Tenders seeking defense and indemnity were timely submitted to each of the respondents. CP 7451-60 (FMIC & CNA), CP 6012, CP 6014-19, CP 6026 (NP). Zurich agreed to defend Ledcor under a reservation of rights and assigned one of its panel counsel. CP 795-6. During the representation of its insureds, Zurich filed a declaratory judgment action on 17 March 2009. CP 1-21. That action, followed four months later by a summary judgment, sought recovery of hundreds of thousands of dollars spent in the defense of Ledcor and Admiral Way LLC just days before a mediation held on 28 July 2009. Ledcor filed a counterclaim against Zurich and a third party action against various insurers who either insured Ledcor directly (Virginia Surety) or provided additional insured coverage

through the responsible subcontractors (FMIC, North Pacific, and Transportation). CP 1643-1671.

The Owners' lawsuit was settled at mediation on 28 July 2009 for \$4.7 million. Of that amount, Ledcor paid \$2.7 million and Admiral Way LLC paid \$2 million. After notice to all subcontractors and their insurance carriers, the trial court found that the settlement was reasonable in an order dated 05 March 2010. CP. 3749-51, CP 10889-91. Years of litigation ensued. During the course of the lawsuit, in exchange for an assignment of rights and a covenant not to execute, SQI settled with Ledcor by entering into a negotiated stipulated judgment for \$747,785. The judgment was entered by the trial court on 09 April 2014. CP 10077-80.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that both Virginia Surety and Transportation breached their obligations under their policies. It erroneously affirmed the dismissal of all claims against Zurich, FMIC and North Pacific.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. Washington law does not allow carriers to draft their policies to circumvent established principles of insurance law.

Washington recognizes the fundamental importance of the construction industry to this state's economy. This Court has cautioned

against disrupting the bargained allocation of risk in the industry. Berchauser/Phillips v. Seattle School Dist., 124 Wn.2d 816, 826, 881 P.2d 986 (1994). That has not stopped insurance companies from trying to avoid both insurance requirements and indemnity provisions in construction contracts. In Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins., 188 Wn.2d 171, 393 P.3d 748 (2017), this Court reaffirmed the "eight corners rule" on coverage disputes and applied the efficient proximate cause doctrine to a third-party personal injury suit. The builder negligently installed a boiler that released carbon monoxide into a home seriously injuring the occupant. The carrier relied upon the absolute pollution exclusion and a townhouse exclusion in refusing to defend or indemnify the builder. A covenant judgment was entered into and the plaintiff, as assignee, sued the carrier. The Court of Appeals reversed on the townhouse exclusion but affirmed on the absolute pollution exclusion. This Court reversed, finding that the carrier had committed bad faith as a matter of law. Just like the exclusions in Zurich's and FMIC's policies, the absolute pollution exclusion is fairly broad ("applies whether any other cause of bodily injury, property damage, or personal injury would otherwise be covered under this insurance") and disclaims any defense obligation where it

applies. In rejecting the carrier's attempt to draft around the efficient proximate cause rule, the *Xia* court relied on a long line of Washington cases prohibiting attempts by carriers to draft exclusionary language circumventing established principles of insurance law, citing *Villella v. Pub. Emps. Mut. Ins.*, 106 Wn.2d 806, 815, 725 P.2d 957 (1986) and *Key Tronic Corp. v. Aetna (Cigna) Fire Underwriters Inc. Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 618, 626, 881 P.2d 201 (1994).

Here the situation was worse than *Xia*. Both Zurich and FMIC placed their exclusionary language in their insuring agreement so the insured would have to establish a lack of knowledge – a factual determination – of any existing problems before triggering coverage rather than have the carriers present evidence in support of their exclusionary language. This turned the burden of proof on its head. FMIC's insuring provision, paragraph b., states: "This insurance only applies to 'bodily injury' and 'property damage' only if: . . . (3) Prior to the policy period, no insured listed . . . and no 'employee' authorized by you to give or receive notice of an 'occurrence' or claim, knew that the . . . 'property damage' had occurred, in whole or in part." CP 10186-89; Zurich's, under

"continuous and progressive" exclusion (a version of which is in FMIC's policies) was drafted to get around the rule announced in *Gruol Const. Co. v. Ins. Co. of N. America*, 11 Wn.App. 632, 525 P.2d 427 (1974) and WAC 284-30-330(6), which require that carriers protect the insured claimant and resolve coverage questions among themselves when there are multiple carriers on the risk. *See* Zurich's brief, pp. 54-55. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4).

# B. The Duty of Good Faith Requires All Persons to Abstain from Deception and Practice Honesty and Equity in All Insurance Matters including Respondents.

A breach of the obligation of good faith and fair dealing gives rise to a tort which derives from the common law, as well as statutory and regulatory provisions. *See St. Paul Fire & Marine v. Onvia, Inc.,* 165 Wn.2d 122, 128, 196 P.3d 664 (2008). Title 48 RCW governs the insurance industry as a whole. RCW 48.01.030, for example, provides:

The business of insurance is one affected by the public interest, requiring that all persons be actuated by good faith, abstain from deception, and practice honesty and equity in all insurance matters. Upon the insurer, the insured, their providers, and their representative rest the duty of preserving inviolate the integrity of insurance.

See Indus. Indem. Co. v. Kallevig, 114 Wn.2d 907, 916, 792 P.2d 520 (1990) (recognizing "RCW 48.01.030 requires insurers to act in good

faith in dealing with their insureds."). That holding is consistent with the principle that a violation of a statutory duty permits a trier of fact to infer negligence in a common law action. *See* RCW 5.40.050.

The Code's broad scope is declared in RCW 48.01.020: "All insurance and insurance transactions in this state . . . and all persons having to do therewith are governed by this code." "Person" is statutorily defined as "any individual, company, insurer, association, organization, reciprocal or interinsurance exchange, partnership, business trust, or corporation." RCW 48.01.070. Insurance transactions include "matters subsequent to execution of the contract and arising out of it." RCW 48.01.060. The duty to refrain from deception in the business of insurance, as practiced by Zurich and FMIC, is set forth in RCW 48.30.040: "No person shall knowingly make, publish, or disseminate any false, deceptive or misleading representation . . . in the conduct of the business of insurance, or relative to the business of insurance . . . "

In Burnham v. Commercial Cas. Ins., 10 Wn.2d 624, 117 P.2d 644 (1941) this Court first recognized a common law cause of action for insurance bad faith. Eleven years later in Evans v. Continental Cas. Co.,

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