FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/16/2019 2:55 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97083-1

(Court of Appeals No. 76490-0-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, Respondent/Cross-Appellant

VS.

LEDCOR INDUSTRIES (USA) INC., Appellant

RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER TO LEDCOR'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Jacquelyn A. Beatty, WSBA #17567 Robert A. Radcliffe, WSBA #19035 KARR TUTTLE CAMPBELL 701 Fifth Ave., Ste. 3300 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1313 Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Appellant Zurich American Insurance Company

IV.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES			
V.	COUN	NTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE	7	
VI.	LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT			
	A.	Ledcor Has Failed to Demonstrate that the Opinion of the Court of Appeals Satisfies the Requirements of RAP 13.4(b)	12	
	B.	The Court of Appeals Properly Held There Was No Evidence that Zurich Acted in Bad Faith by Filing a Declaratory Judgment Action and Moving for Summary Judgment.	13	
	C.	Ledcor Has Failed to Cite Evidence or Legal Authority, and Has Failed to Provide Argument for Its Theory that the Trial Court Disregarded Expert Testimony.	15	
	D.	Ledcor's Theory that Zurich Acted Improperly When Drafting the Insuring Agreement In Its Insurance Policies Is Irrelevant Because Zurich Did Not Rely on the Insuring Agreement as a Basis for Contesting Coverage, and Ledcor Failed to Raise the Issue Below.	16	
	E.	Ledcor's Theory That Zurich Improperly "Commingled" Coverage and Defense Files Was Properly Addressed by the Court of Appeals, and Ledcor Has Failed to Show How This Issue Satisfies the Standards Set by RAP 13.4(b)		
	F.	Ledcor's Arguments Pertaining to the Continuous or progressively Deteriorating Damage Exclusions Are Immaterial Because the Residential Construction Exclusions Provide a Separate Basis for Determining that there is No Coverage as a Matter of Law.	19	

VII. CONCLUSION......20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd., 168 Wn.2d 398, 405, 229 P.3d 693 (2010)10 Blue Ridge Ins. Co. v. Jacobsen, 25 Cal. 4th 489, 106 Cal. Rptr. 2d 535, 22 P.3d 313 (2001)13 Bordak Bros., Inc. v. Pac. Coast Stucco, LLC, 2012 Wash. App. Lexis 1545 at 12-13 (July, 2, 2012)......7 Cook v. Sheriff of Monroe Cty., 402 F.3d 1092 (11th Cir. 2005)......16 Harrison Plumbing & Heating v. N.H. Ins. Grp., 37 Wn. App. 621, 627, 681 P.2d 875, 880 (1984)19, 20 National Surety Corp. v. Immunex Corp., 176 Wn.2d 872, 297 P.3d 688 (2013)3, 11, 14 Nat'l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp., No. 75674-5-I, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 210, at *9 (Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2018)14 Nobel Ins. Co. v. Austin Powder Co., 256 F. Supp. 2d 937 (W.D. Ark. 2003)......13 Queen City Farms v. Cent. Nat'l Ins. Co., 126 Wn.2d 50, 882 P.2d 703 (1994)17 Safeco Ins. Co. v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992)...14, 18, 19 Zurich Am. Ins. Co. v. R. L. Alia Co., 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28817 (W.D. Wash. 2009)......13 **OTHER AUTHORITIES** K. Abraham, Environmental Liability Insurance Law 140-41 (1991)......17 RULES RAP 13.4(b)......12, 18 RAP 13.4(b)(4)12, 20

RAP 13.4(d)5, 13

I. INTRODUCTION

This is a case in which liability insurer Zurich American Insurance Company ("Zurich") did the right things, followed Washington law, and in turn was sued by its insured for bad faith. The trial court and the Court of Appeals both held that Zurich was not required to defend or indemnify the insured, and both courts rejected the insured's bad faith claims.

In 2007, Zurich was asked to defend and indemnify construction defect claims against general contractor Ledcor Industries (USA) Inc. ("Ledcor") and property developer Admiral Way, LLC ("the LLC") pursuant to liability insurance policies that Zurich had issued to Ledcor starting in 2005. The claims arose from Ledcor's construction of a 65-unit condominium known as The Admiral, which was substantially complete in April 2003.

The Zurich policies provide no coverage for liability arising from residential construction, specifically including condominiums. The Zurich policies also exclude coverage for "continuous or progressively deteriorating" damage that began before the policies were in effect. Upon investigating, Zurich found strong evidence that the water intrusion forming the basis for the construction defect claims had begun before the Zurich policies were issued. Nevertheless, in compliance with Washington law, Zurich timely agreed to defend Ledcor, while reserving its right to contest coverage.

Zurich filed this action in early 2009 to determine whether it had a duty to defend and indemnify Ledcor and the LLC. Zurich continued to defend Ledcor and the LLC until the underlying case was settled. Ledcor then filed counterclaims against Zurich, alleging insurance bad faith and related causes of action. The trial court dismissed Ledcor's counterclaims for breach of contract and bad faith on summary judgment. Ledcor appealed, and the Court of Appeals held that coverage was barred by the residential construction exclusions in the Zurich policies. The Court of Appeals also held that Zurich did not engage in bad faith: it had fully investigated the loss, provided separate counsel to defend Ledcor and Admiral Way, kept Ledcor fully informed, and participated in settlement activity.

In its petition for review, Ledcor identifies several issues pertaining to its bad faith claims against Zurich. First, Ledcor contends that Zurich acted in bad faith because its complaint and its first summary judgment motion in this action sought recoupment of defense costs that Zurich had incurred.² Ledcor argued that this was an act of bad faith because the Wash-

¹ Ledcor also joined an additional 16 insurers, alleging breach of contract and bad faith as to all of them. CP 1644-45.

² Before Zurich filed its first summary judgment motion, Ledcor's counsel agreed that Zurich could recover defense costs if Ledcor was successful in its claims against insurers that had failed to defend. CP 13492. Zurich later amended its complaint to clarify that it sought reimbursement

ington Supreme Court held in 2013 that liability insurers cannot recoup defenses costs after a court has determined there is no duty to defend.³ The Court of Appeals observed that "neither Admiral Way nor Ledcor make it clear how Zurich briefly requesting such reimbursement in 2009 contributes to a bad faith claim. There is no evidence that Zurich pursued these costs in an unreasonable or frivolous way, or that any damage arose out of this minor addition to Zurich's claim." Slip Op. at 17 n.7.

Second, Ledcor argues that the Court of Appeals erred because Ledcor had filed a declaration by an expert witness asserting the Zurich had fallen below the standard of care. A court is not required to blindly rule in favor of any party that submits an expert's declaration in response to summary judgment. The trial court and Court of Appeals were entitled to conclude that Ledcor's expert declaration carried no weight when the evidence in the record clearly established that Zurich had acted in good faith.

Third, Ledcor contends that Zurich improperly included what Ledcor calls "exclusionary language" in the insuring agreements of its policies,

from other insurers, not Ledcor or the LLC. CP 13068, 13326. The amended summary judgment motion that actually was heard by the trial court did not request reimbursement of defense costs. CP 441-64.

³ National Surety Corp. v. Immunex Corp., 176 Wn.2d 872, 884, 297 P.3d 688 (2013). In Immunex, although the Court found no right to recoupment, it also did not hold that the insurer had acted in bad faith by asserting a right to it.

specifically a requirement that the insured had no knowledge of the loss prior to the policy's inception. Ledcor did not raise this issue in the Court of Appeals with regard to Zurich.⁴ Moreover, Zurich's summary judgment motion and its appellate brief did not rely on language in its insuring agreement as a basis for contesting coverage.⁵

Finally, Ledcor argues that Zurich acted in bad faith because the insurance adjuster who handled the Ledcor claim evaluated coverage—what Ledcor calls "commingling." Ledcor's argument is based on the incorrect assumption that there is something nefarious about the common and necessary practice of having insurance adjusters evaluate coverage based on documents provided by the insured as part of the ordinary adjustment of any claim. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that there is no law prohibiting this practice.

The Court of Appeals' decision that an insurance policy exclusion for residential construction bars coverage for liability arising from a condominium is unsurprising and is not in conflict with Washington appellate decisions. The Court's recognition that Zurich did not engage in bad faith by filing a declaratory judgment action, by briefly requesting reimbursement

⁴ See, Brief of Appellants at 64-66.

⁵ CP 441-464; Brief of Respondent Zurich at 53-56 (arguing continuous damage exclusion, not known loss).

of past defense costs—and explaining that any such reimbursement would come from other insurers to whom Ledcor had tendered its defense, or by having its adjuster evaluate coverage also is unsurprising and is consistent with Washington case law. Ledcor's petition for review should be denied.

II. PARTY FILING ANSWER

This Answer to Ledcor's petition for review by the Washington Supreme Court is filed by respondent Zurich American Insurance Company.

III. RELIEF REQUESTED

Zurich respectfully requests that the Court deny the petition for review filed by Ledcor as to all issues involving Zurich.

If review is accepted by the Washington Supreme Court, Zurich respectfully requests that pursuant to RAP 13.4(d) the Court also address the following issues that were asserted as grounds for cross appeal by Zurich in the Court of Appeals:

- 1. The trial court erred in imposing discovery sanctions in a dispute over discovery of privileged materials because Zurich substantially complied with the court's discovery order and openly requested that the court resolve the privilege dispute through *in camera* review.
- 2. The trial court erred when it denied Zurich's motion to strike the declaration of Ledcor's general counsel setting forth Ledcor's theories of insurance bad faith, where the general counsel previously had appeared

as Ledcor's CR 30(b)(6) witness on insurance bad faith counterclaims but had refused to answer any questions about those counterclaims.

- 3. The trial court erred when it quashed the deposition of Ledcor's original coverage counsel as to communications with Zurich about coverage issues, on the ground that all possible testimony would be privileged, where the same counsel later offered a substantive declaration supporting Ledcor's position.
- 4. The trial court erred when it declined to strike the declaration of Ledcor's former coverage counsel, whose deposition was quashed on the ground that he had no nonprivileged testimony to offer.

IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Where the Court of Appeals held that as a matter of law, a residential construction exclusion in a general liability insurance policy excludes coverage for construction defect liability arising from construction of a condominium building, was the Court's decision (a) in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court or (b) a matter of substantial public interest? No.
- 2. Where the Court of Appeals held that as a matter of law a liability insurer did not engage in bad faith conduct because the insurer properly investigated the claim, defended the insured under a reservation of rights, kept the insured informed about the case, and did not take any action

to prejudice the insured's position in the underlying action, was the Court's decision (a) in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court or (b) a matter of substantial public interest? No.

V. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ledcor was the general contractor for the construction of a condominium in Seattle known as The Admiral. CP 13748. The condominium contains 65 residential units. CP 205. The ground floor also includes two commercial units and a parking garage. *Id.* A certificate of occupancy was issued in April 2003. CP 13751. Disagreements between Ledcor and the owner, Admiral Way, LLC regarding punch list items were resolved in a contract addendum in February 2004. CP 13707-10. In a related suit, *Bordak Bros., Inc. v. Pac. Coast Stucco, LLC*, 2012 Wash. App. Lexis 1545 at 12-13 (July, 2, 2012), the court of appeals later affirmed a trial court ruling that the project was substantially complete in April 2003.

The building leaked, and the Condominium Owners Association ("COA") sued the LLC under the Washington Condominium Act in 2007. CP 182-89. The LLC filed third party claims against Ledcor. CP 277, 286-91. Both companies tendered defense of the lawsuit to Zurich, which had issued two general liability insurance policies to Ledcor. CP 27, 106. Each Zurich policy was in effect for one year. The first policy commenced on

December 1, 2005. *Id.* Before it bought the insurance from Zurich, Ledcor identified The Admiral as a residential construction project. CP 506-09.

The Zurich policies excluded coverage for liability arising from work on residential buildings, specifically including condominiums. CP 88, 169. The policies also excluded coverage for "continuous or progressively deteriorating" damage that began before the policies' inception dates. CP 97, 160. Zurich agreed to defend Ledcor and the LLC, reserving its right to contest coverage.

Zurich filed this declaratory judgment action in 2009, seeking a determination that it had no duty to defend or indemnify Ledcor or the LLC. CP 1. Zurich's counsel informed Ledcor's coverage counsel that it intended to file an early motion for summary judgment. CP 3701. Ledcor's counsel did not ask Zurich to refrain from moving for summary judgment, but did ask Zurich to postpone the hearing date until after a mediation of the construction defect claims. CP 3719-20, 3703. Zurich acceded to that request. CP 3719, 3722, 3724, 3726.

There were two mediations: one on June 19, 2009, and one on July 28, 2009. CP 9701-03, 1281-81. The second mediation resulted in two settlements: one between the COA, the LLC, and Ledcor, and the other between Ledcor, the LLC, and AIG Commercial Insurance Company of Canada ("AIG"). CP 591-92, 588-89, 1213-19. AIG had insured Ledcor in

2002 and 2003 under the name American Home Assurance Company. CP 13490. The second settlement included an assignment of insurance claims by Ledcor (but not the LLC) to AIG, which is pursuing this appeal in Ledcor's name. CP 1214. After the assignment and a change in counsel, Ledcor filed an amended answer that, for the first time, included insurance bad faith counterclaims against Zurich., Ledcor had not asserted such claims against Zurich in its previous three answers. CP 426-440, CP 3713-15, CP 3736-38, CP 3750-52.

Ledcor's counterclaims against Zurich were partially dismissed on summary judgment in 2010. The remaining counterclaims were dismissed in 2011. CP 1633-36, CP 1630-31, CP 1638-40, CP 2991-93. Ledcor continued litigation against other insurers until January 2017, after which it appealed various dismissals of its coverage and bad faith claims. The LLC filed a separate appeal, although the matters were linked for consideration and argument. The Court of Appeals issued its opinion in this matter on December 10, 2018, with a substituted opinion on March 18, 2018.

In the Ledcor appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decisions, partly on different grounds. The Court held that the residential construction exclusions in both Zurich policies barred coverage as a matter

⁶ CP 8437.

⁷ Court of Appeals Division I, No. 76405-5-I.

of law, finding no duty to defend or indemnify Ledcor. Slip Op. at 12-13. The Court also affirmed the dismissal of Ledcor's insurance bad faith claims. The Court held that Zurich did not act in bad faith when it filed a declaratory judgment action while defending under a reservation of rights, citing *American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 405, 229 P.3d 693 (2010). The Court held that, based on the evidentiary record, Zurich fully investigated the incident, retained counsel to represent Ledcor (and the LLC), and fully participated in settlement activity and informed the insured of that activity, and refrained from placing its own monetary interests ahead of the insured's interests. Slip Op. at 14-15.

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